
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

City of Palmer, Alaska: February 22, 2022, City Council Regular Meeting Agenda Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer, Alaska 
Regular City Council Meeting 

March 8, 2022, at 6:00 PM 
City Council Chambers 

231 W. Evergreen Avenue, Palmer 
www.palmerak.org 

AGENDA 

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. ROLL CALL

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
1. Approval of Consent Agenda

a) Action Memorandum No. 22-017: Confirming the Mayor’s Nomination of Penny McClain
for Appointment to the Planning and Zoning Commission with Terms Ending December 31,
2024

b) Information Memorandum No. 22-001: Informing the Council of Some of the
Emergency Repair Costs Associated with the January 2022 Winter Storm Event

2. Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings
a) February 22, 2022, Regular Meeting Minutes

E. COMMUNICATIONS AND APPEARANCE REQUESTS
1. Presentation from City of Palmer Public Works Director Jude Bilafer regarding Future Plans for Roads

and Utilities Advancement

F. REPORTS
1. City Manager’s Report
2. Mayor’s Report
3. City Clerk’s Report
4. City Attorney’s Report

G. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION

H. PUBLIC HEARINGS

I. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
1. Action Memorandum No. 22-009: Approving a Council Community Grant to United Way of Mat-

Su

J. NEW BUSINESS
1. Action Memorandum No. 22-019: Turkey Red Liquor License Renewal
2. Action Memorandum No. 22-018: Selecting the Golden Heart Lifetime Achievement Award

Recipient(s) – Nominees: Barbara Hunt and Jack Snodgrass

K. RECORD OF ITEMS PLACED ON THE TABLE

Mayor Steven J. Carrington 

Deputy Mayor Pamela Melin 

Council Member Richard W. Best 
Council Member Sabrena Combs 

Council Member Brian Daniels 
Council Member Jill Valerius 

Council Member Carolina Anzilotti 

City Manager John Moosey 

City Clerk Shelly M. Acteson, CMC 

City Attorney Sarah Heath, Esq. 

(Page 3)

(Page 7) 
(Page 11)

(Page 21)

(Page 19)

(Page 23)

(Page 31)

(Page 43)

1

http://www.palmerak.org/


__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

City of Palmer, Alaska: February 22, 2022, City Council Regular Meeting Agenda Page 2 of 2 

L. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
 
M. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
N. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
O. ADJOURNMENT 
 

 
 
 

Tentative Future Palmer City Council Meetings 
 

Meeting 
Date 

Meeting 
Type 

Time Notes 

Mar 22 Regular 6pm  

Apr 12 Regular 6pm  

Apr 26 Regular 6pm  

May 10 Regular 6pm  

May 24 Regular 6pm  

Jun 14 Regular 6pm  

Jun 28 Regular 6pm  

 

2



3



 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 22-017 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s):  
1. P & Z Application 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
 
The Planning and Zoning Commission is a seven-member board with one seat that expired December 31, 2021. 
 
Public notice of this recruitment was posted on the City’s website, published in The Frontiersman, and posted on 
the City of Palmer’s social media sites. 

 
The applicants met code requirements and after review, Penny McClain is nominated for appointment to fill the 
vacant seat. 
 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Approve Action Memorandum No. 22-017. 
 
 
 
 
 
  

4



5



6



 
City of Palmer, Alaska: IM No. 22-001 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer  
Information Memorandum No. 22-001 

 
Subject:  Inform the City Council on Some of the Emergency Repair Costs Associated with the January 2022 
Winter Storm Event  
 
Agenda of: March 8th, 2022 
 

Originator Information: 

Originator: Jude Bilafer, Director, Public Works 
 

Department Review: 

Route to:  Department Director: 
 

Signature:  Date: 
  Community Development    
  Finance    
  Fire    
  Police     
X  Public Works             Jude Bilafer  2/24/2022 

 

 

 
  

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ 52,453.84 
 

This legislation (√): 
 Creates revenue in the amount of: $  
X Creates expenditure in the amount of: $ $29,229.39 Invoiced; Awaiting Invoicing for $23,224.45 
 Creates a saving in the amount of: $  
 Has no fiscal impact   

 

Funds are (√): 
 Budgeted Line item(s):  
X Not budgeted   
 
 

 
Director of Finance Signature:  

Approved for Presentation By: 

  Signature:  Remarks: 

City Manager 
 

 
 

 
City Attorney   
City Clerk   

 

7



City of Palmer, Alaska: IM No. 22-001 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s): 
1. Disaster Declaration

Summary Statement/Background: 

Commencing on January 1st, 2022, and lasting several days, the City of Palmer sustained steady and violent winds 
as part of a winter storm.  This storm caused significant damage to city infrastructure and systems.  There were 
numerous power outages, damaged and destroyed structures, multiple broken water pipes throughout the City 
which resulted in residential and commercial flooding, to include damage to electrical componentry within City 
facilities. 

The Palmer City Manager and City Mayor signed a Disaster Emergency declaration regarding this storm on 5 
January 2022.  Based on this declaration, procurements were initiated under PMC 3.21.250 to begin emergency 
repairs at multiple City facilities.  Facilities which were impacted because of frozen and broken water pipes include 
the Depot’s restrooms, the Visitors Center community restrooms, the Fire Department’s Training Center restrooms, 
the Palmer Golf Course’s restroom and electrical interface system, and the restroom in the Airport Flight Services 
Center.  These facilities sustained significant damage that included broken pipes, damaged drywall, cracked toilets 
and sinks, water damage to the floors, and the Golf Course’s irrigation computer control system was destroyed. 
As part of the City’s emergency repairs, a local contractor was used alongside the City’s maintenance person to 
conduct the necessary repairs to ensure public safety and prevent future damages.  To date, $29,229.39 has been 
invoiced for these emergency repairs.  The City is waiting to be officially invoiced for another $23,224.45.      

PMC 3.21.250 Emergency procurements. The city may award a contract for supplies, services, professional 
services or construction without competition, formal advertising or other formal procedure where the city manager 
determines in writing that an emergency threatening the public health, safety or welfare requires that the contract 
be awarded without delay. The city manager shall make a report on such contract to the council no later than the 
next regular meeting following award of the contract. (Ord. 644 § 4, 2004) 

8



9



10



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska:   February 22, 2022, Regular Meeting                                                                                               Page 1 of 7 

City of Palmer, Alaska 
City Council Minutes 

Regular Meeting 
February 22, 2022 

A. CALL TO ORDER:

A regular meeting of the Palmer City Council was held on February 22, 2022, in the Council Chambers, 
Palmer, Alaska.  Mayor Carrington called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.  

B. ROLL CALL:

Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following were present: 
Steve Carrington, Mayor Brian Daniels 
Pamela Melin, Deputy Mayor Richard Best (on Zoom) 
Jill Valerius  Sabrena Combs 
Carolina Anzilotti 

Staff in attendance were the following: 
John Moosey, City Manager Shelly M. Acteson, CMC, City Clerk 
Sarah Heath, City Attorney Holly Dubose, Deputy City Clerk

C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

The Pledge of Allegiance was performed. 

D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
1. Approval of Consent Agenda

a) Action Memorandum 22-016: Authorizing the City Manager to Purchase Two New
Patrol Vehicles and Equipment in the Amount of $108,766.00 and to Purchase the Vehicle
Under the Governmental and Proprietary Procurements Section of Palmer Municipal Code
3.21.230 by Attaching to the State of Alaska Contract

2. Approval of Minutes
a) February 8, 2022, Regular Meeting Minutes

E. COMMUNICATION AND APPEARANCE REQUESTS

Main Motion: Approval of Consent Agenda and Minutes 
Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Valerius 
Vote: Approved 
Action: Motion Carried 

11



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska:   February 22, 2022, Regular Meeting                                                                                               Page 2 of 7 

F. REPORTS

City Manager’s Report 
City Manager John Moosey reported on the following: 
• Resolution 22-008 increase in price for the dredge.

Mayor’s Report 
Mayor Carrington reported on the following: 
• Receiving nominations for the Golden Heart Award.
• Upcoming Act of Kindness request from the Rabbi.
• Refresher trainer in the future for Council Members.

City Clerk’s Report 
City Clerk Shelly Acteson reported on the following: 
• Election is in full swing.
• In person voting details.
• Absentee Voting Applications available for Absentee or Mail-in ballots online and in person at

City Hall.

City Attorney Report 
City Attorney Sarah Heath reported on the following: 
• Working with City Works regarding Cedar Park Subdivision.
• Additional ethics training.

G. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION

Stephanie Nowers:
• Gave updates on gravel legislation coming up at the Borough Assembly meeting on March 15th

• Juneau takeaways:
o Affordable housing
o Additional work force needed in future

• AML asked for large grant money from legislation.
• UAF on farm, good potential opportunities.
• West Susitna Access input approaching February 23rd & March 23rd.
• Limiting Assembly Members to two terms for a lifetime.

Jackie Goforth: 
• Reminded Council that she is a writer & researcher.
• Recited the 1964 Supreme Court Case, Sullivan vs. New York Times.
• Rescinded her apology made during the February 8 meeting.

 Cindy Hudgins: 
• Read the definition of liberty.
• Read quotes from Facebook posts.

12



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska:   February 22, 2022, Regular Meeting                                                                                               Page 3 of 7 

H. PUBLIC HEARINGS

1. Resolution No. 22-008: Appropriation of Funds in the Amount not to Exceed $213,000 to
Finance the Purchase of a New Dredge for the City’s Wastewater Treatment, as Required by
Federal Consent Decree

Manager Moosey gave an update on City of Palmer’s agreement with EPA and required dredging
of lagoons. The dredge broke and is essential to comply with the Federal Consent Decree. The
price has gone up $9,605 in shipping and material increases for the dredge purchase.

Mayor Carrington opened the public hearing on Resolution No. 22-008. Seeing no one come
forward and hearing no objection from the Council, Mayor Carrington closed the public hearing.

Council Member Combs mentioned that this was related to a horrible smell that was reported two
years ago. Deputy Melin asked how this impacts the budget. Manager Moosey explained that this
is an issue that needs taken care of even though it was not originally budgeted for.

Main Motion: To Adopt Resolution No. 22-008 
Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Valerius 
Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried 

2. Resolution No. 22-009: Directing the City Manager to Participate and Cooperate with Mat-Su
Local Governments in the Federal Building a Better America Grant Program

Manager Moosey explained that the Federal Government are giving away 1 trillion dollars in
grants. Since palmer is a small town, we have decided to group with the other cities to apply for
this grant, so we have a better chance of competing with larger cities.

Mayor Carrington opened the public hearing on Resolution No. 22-009. Seeing no one come
forward and hearing no objection from the Council, Mayor Carrington closed the public hearing.

Main Motion: To Adopt Resolution No. 22-009 
Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Melin 
Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried 

13



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska:   February 22, 2022, Regular Meeting                                                                                               Page 4 of 7 

3. Resolution No. 21-010: Authorizing the Execution and Delivery of the RUS Bulletin 1780-27 to
Allow for the Long-Term Financing of the Wastewater Utility Treatment Plant Facility
Improvements

Manager Moosey provided clarification that this project has been approved to be completed. This
resolution is to fund the project.

Mayor Carrington opened the public hearing on Resolution No. 22-010. Mr. Anderson came
forward to speak.

Erik Anderson: Long term financing clarification. Manager Moosey clarified 6.9 million will be
borrowed to move forward with this project. Mr. Anderson questioned why we are not requiring
people in the city utilities to help down the road.

Main Motion: To Adopt Resolution No. 21-010 
Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Daniels 
Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried 

4. Resolution No. 21-005 A:  Amending the City of Palmer Budget for the Fiscal Year Ending
December 31, 2021

Manager Moosey amended the fiscal budgeting due to the fire grant was written incorrectly and
threw off other budget numbers.

Mayor Carrington opened the public hearing on Resolution No. 21-005 A. Seeing no one come
forward and hearing no objection from the Council, Mayor Carrington closed the public hearing.

Main Motion: To Adopt Resolution No. 21-005 A, including revised number provided by 
the Finance Director 

Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Daniels 
Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried 

5. Ordinance No. 22-001: An Ordinance of the Palmer City Council Enacting Palmer Municipal
Code Chapter 12.30 City of Palmer Parks, Recreational and Outdoor Facilities Donation/Memorial
Policy and Repealing Ordinance 17-008-S, a City of Palmer Parks, Recreation and Outdoor
Facilities Donation Policy

Mayor Carrington opened the public hearing on Resolution No. 22-001. Seeing no one come
forward and hearing no objection from the Council, Mayor Carrington closed the public hearing.

Main Motion: To Adopt Resolution No. 22-001 
Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Melin 
Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried 

14



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska:   February 22, 2022, Regular Meeting                                                                                               Page 5 of 7 

Discussion ensued regarding memorial plaques, establishing a memorial park, and 12.30.010 D. of the 
Ordinance.   

I. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

1. Action Memorandum 22-009: Approving a Council Community Grant to United Way of Mat-Su

United Way Outreach Director, Michele Harmeling spoke regarding United Way grant. She noted
four local artists were selected to contribute art pieces to be places at various locations in the
Matsu. Art pieces are expected to be family friendly and can be put outside. One location that has
been determined is Alaska family services. It was noted that these art pieces will also be visible
and accessible for all the public.

Deputy Mayor Melin addressed issues brought forth from public members. Deputy Melin asked for
a clarification of what the art will entail. Ms. Harmeling explained that the art will be created with
conjunction of the property owners’ desires. Art examples can be provided to the Council for
viewing. Combs asked about the vetting process. Michelle explained that the artists have been
approved by Parks and Recreation, along with other community members. Council Member Anzilotti
requested art samples from select artists.

Main Motion: To Postpone Action Memorandum No. 22-009 to 3/8/22 Meeting 
Moved by: Valerius 
Seconded by: Best 
Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried 

J. NEW BUSINESS

1. Action Memorandum No. 22-013: Directing the City Manager to Notify the State of Alaska of
the City Council’s Statement of Non-Objection of the Matanuska Brewing Company Winery
License

2. Action Memorandum No. 22-014: Directing the City Manager to Notify the State of Alaska of
the City Council’s Statement of Non-Objection of the License Renewal of Moosehead Saloon

3. Action Memorandum No. 22-015: Directing the City Manager to Notify the State of Alaska of
the City Council’s Statement of Non-Objection of the License Renewal of the Palmer Alehouse

Main Motion: To Approve Action Memorandum No. 22-013, No 22-014, and No 22-015 
Moved by: Combs 
Seconded by: Valerius 
Vote: Unanimous 
Action: Motion Carried 

K. RECORD OF ITEMS PLACED ON THE TABLE
1. Subdivision agreement history on Cedar Park from Connie Yoshimura

15



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska:   February 22, 2022, Regular Meeting                                                                                               Page 6 of 7 

L. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION

Connie Yoshimura:
• Commented on the Cedar Hills subdivision agreement.
• Provided her perspective on the City subdivision approval process.

Jacki Goforth: 
• Recited screenshots from Facebook posts.

Cindy Hudgins: 
• Commented on standards for audience participation.

 Erik Anderson: 
• Provided a Cedar Hills perspective.
• Suggested a tax on plastics.

 Mike Chmielewski: 
• Gave positive feedback regarding the April 19, 2022, special election banner located on the City

of Palmers website.
• Applauded Council on working well together and asking questions.

M. EXECUTIVE SESSION

N. COUNCIL COMMENTS

Council Member Combs:
• Provided AML Conference update.
• Public Works shout out for all their hard work.
• Museum “sip and shop” fundraiser.

Council Member Valerius: 
• Thanked Ms. Nowers for Borough update.
• Thanked Mr. Anderson for the plastic container recycling idea.

Council Member Best: 
• Stated the Legislature is in full swing in Juneau.

 Deputy Mayor Melin: 
• Thanked Assembly Member Nowers for the report.
• Excited for upcoming Palmer events.

 Council Member Anzilotti: 
• Thanked Assembly Member Nowers for the update.

 Council Member Daniels: 
• Thanked United Way Representative for coming.
• Get out to Palmer “sip and shop”.
• Liked the recycling idea presented by Erik Anderson.
• Thanked Assembly Member Nowers for update.

16



_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska:   February 22, 2022, Regular Meeting                                                                                               Page 7 of 7 

O. ADJOURNMENT

With no further business before the Council, the meeting adjourned at 7:57 p.m. 

APPROVED this 8th day of March, 2022. 

________________________________________ 
Shelly M. Acteson, CMC, City Clerk 

______________________________________ 
Steve Carrington, Mayor 

17



18



MEMORANDUM FOR RECORD 

FROM:  Jude Bilafer, Director of Public Works 

DATE:  March 8th, 2022 

SUBJECT: 2022 Future Plans for Road Improvements 

The City’s Pavement Repair Project has been reviewed and our goal is to 
advertise this project within 10 days.  The project consists of seven sites around 
town (Industrial Way, Commercial Drive, E. Moore Rd, S. Felton St, Ellen St, 
Montgomery Way, and Edinborough Dr.  The City expects to advertise this 
project on 8 March for completion during the summer of 2022.  

The City is working with a local engineering firm to design a project to correct ice 
flow issues encountered this winter on Eagle Ave.  We anticipate having those 
documents by 10 March and advertise that project for construction in summer of 
2022 if the estimate comes in within our fiscal constraints.    

The final project for development in 2022 is the design for the upgrade/paving of 
Auklet Ave.  This project, based on initial costs estimates, will be constructed in 
either 2023 or 2024.   

Jude Bilafer 
Director of Public Works, City of Palmer 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

Jude Bilafer 
 Director 

Phone: (907) 761-1350 
Fax: (907) 745-3203 

Email: jbilafer@palmerak.org 
 

Mail: 231 W. Evergreen Ave. 
Palmer, Alaska 99645-6952 

Location: 1316 South Bonanza Street 
www.palmerak.org 

19



20



Mayor’s Report for March 8, 2022 

Feb. 24, 2022 - Attended Mayors’ / Managers’ meeting in Houston  

Mar. 4, 2022 – will be attending the FAA site visit at the Palmer Airport   

The Golden Heart Award 

Barbara Hunt: 

• Administrator of Palmer Alaska Buzz FB group with 17.1 K users since 2016
• Serves on Palmer’s Board of Economic Development since 2017
• Writer (Alaska’s Heavy Light) and artist (artist of the Week July 10, 2020 at the

Palmer Museum)
• Produces the Palmer Buzz Community Calendar

“Palmer 2021 is home for many of us. For others Palmer remains a memory and a 
prayer. The majority of people are positive about P-town, citing it as both awesome and 
triumphant.” 

Jack Snodgrass 

• is a true native son of the City of Palmer and, by example, has rightfully earned
the respect of his friends and associates.

• served the City of Palmer as the City Attorney for 25 Years, retiring in 2006.

• been a steadfast supporter of the City of Palmer:
 Palmer Museum
 Palmer Library

• been a resident of Palmer his entire life and devoted countless hours to the
betterment of his community.

• lives on a farm hidden in the middle of Palmer.

Mayor Steve Carrington 

21



22



City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 22-009 Page 1 of 2 

City of Palmer 
Action Memorandum No. 22-009 

Subject:  Approving a Council Community Grant to United Way of Mat-Su 

Agenda of: January 25, 2022 

Council Action: ☐ Approved ☐ Amended: ____________________________________
☐ Defeated

Originator Information: 

Originator: Mr. John Moosey, City Manager 
Department Review: 

Route to: Department Director: Signature: Date: 
Community Development 
Finance 
Fire 
Police 
Public Works 

Certification of Funds: 

Total amount of funds listed in this legislation: $ $2,500 
 

This legislation (√): 
Creates revenue in the amount of: $ 
Creates expenditure in the amount of: $ 
Creates a saving in the amount of: $ 
Has no fiscal impact 

Funds are (√): 
√ Budgeted Line item(s): 01-02-10-6068 

Not budgeted 

Director of Finance Signature: 

Approved for Presentation By: 
Signature: Remarks: 

City Manager 
City Attorney 
City Clerk 

23



 
City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 22-009 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s):  
1. Council Community Grant Scoring Rubric 
2. Council Community Grant Application 

 
Summary Statement/Background:  
The Palmer Arts & Cultural Installation Project will benefit the community by activating and enlivening publicly 
accessible spaces, inviting visitors and residents to view, discuss and take pride in the invigoration of their town 
and area, as well as bringing traffic to host sites by attracting visitors through increased "curb appeal". By 
advancing portions of the City's existing Parks and Recreational Master Plan, this project will support the Council's 
strategic priorities by continuing to improve and develop local arts and cultural opportunities; enhancing our area's 
trail systems and connectors, and contributing to the development of art offerings that can be included in future 
arts/culture plans and efforts. 
 
In February 2014, the City Council adopted Ordinance NO. 14-043, which established the Council Community 
Grant Program. The City Council approved $12,000.00 in the Community Council Grants line item for 2022. 
 
Legislation # Organization Amount Requested Remaining Date Approved 
Res 22-005 Beginning Balance-2022 Budget  $12,000.00  
     
     
     
     
     
     

 
Administration’s Recommendation:  
 
Approve Action Memorandum No. 22-009 
 
 
 
 
 
  

24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



City of Palmer, Alaska: AM No. 22-019 Page 2 of 2 

Attachment(s): 
1. License Renewal Packet

Summary Statement/Background: 

The Palmer Alehouse has applied for a liquor license renewal. Per State law a local governing body may protest 
the approval of an application pursuant to AS 04.11.480 by providing the applicant with a clear and concise written 
statement of the reason for the protest or may voice a non-objection to a request. 

Administration’s Recommendation:   

Approve Action Memorandum No. 22-019. 

32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44


	01 2022-03 08 Agenda Regular
	02a AM 22-017 Planning and Zoning Commission Appointment Confirmation - McClain
	03a IM 22-001 Storm Damge
	04 2.22.22 RM Minutes
	05 Road and Utility Advancement Update
	06 Mayor's Report
	07a AM 22-009 United Way Grant
	08a AM 22-019 Turkey Red License Renewal
	09 AM 22-018 Selecting the Golden Heart Lifetime Achievement Award Recipient(s)



